THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge
Trial Court Case No. 2013-CP-40-05888

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000788

Clarence B. Winfrey, Jr., Appellant,

v.

American Fire & Casualty Insurance Company
c/o Liberty Mutual Group.....Respondent,

and

State of South Carolina.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUL 25 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Preston F. McDaniel, Esquire
MCDANIEL LAW FIRM
1315 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 771-7211

Attorney for Appellant

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY GRANTING THE STATE'S RULE 12(C), SCRCP, MOTION AND DISMISSING THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION CHALLENGING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE STOP PAYMENT WITHOUT A HEARING PROVISIONS OF SC CODE §42-9-260(B) (1-6) ON THE BASIS OF CONSTITUTIONAL ESTOPPEL?

- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY ORDERING EX MERO MOTU THAT THE STATE BE ADDED AS A PARTY WHERE THAT ISSUE WAS NOT BEFORE THE COURT AND WHERE THE STATE HAD BEEN PREVIOUSLY PROPERLY SERVED AND CHOSE NOT TO APPEAR; AND SUBSEQUENT THERETO BY NOT DISMISSING THE STATE AS A PARTY BASED ON THE MOTION OF THE PLAINTIFF AND THE POSITION OF THE STATE IN REFERENCE TO THE MOTION?

- III. WHERE THE COURT HELD A HEARING ON ALL REMAINING MOTIONS AND ON THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION; TOOK THE MATTERS UNDER ADVISEMENT; AND THEN DID NOT ISSUE NOTES FOR DECISION UNTIL FIFTEEN (15) MONTHS LATER, DID THE COURT ERR BY NOT GRANTING A REHEARING AND DID THE DELAY IN RENDERING A DECISION DENY THE PLAINTIFF DUE PROCESS OF LAW?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Declaratory Judgment action was instituted based on the Respondent American Fire & Casualty Insurance Company (hereinafter "American Fire", the employer's insurance carrier in the workers' compensation claim), after having accepted, authorized and paid workers' compensation benefits for 115 days after the work-related accident including paying the Claimant, Clarence B. Winfrey, Jr., weekly temporary total workers' compensation benefits and authorizing medical care, stopping benefits without a hearing pursuant to the exception provisions of SC Code §42-9-260, subsection (B)(1-6) and specifically subsection (B)(3). (R., pp. 59-93). The Plaintiff, the Appellant in this appeal and the Claimant in the workers' compensation action, sought a declaration under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act that the provisions of Code §42-9-260(B)(1-6), which allows for the stopping of benefits without a hearing during the first 150 days that benefits have been paid, are unconstitutional as violating both due process and equal protection. The Complaint alleged that since the Respondent, American Fire, after having accepted, authorized and paid benefits was allowed to stop those benefits without a hearing during the first 150 days and since the Claimant had a protected property right in those benefits under the decisions of the South Carolina Supreme Court that as to due process, this violated his rights to a hearing, an opportunity to be heard and to cross-

examination before stopping benefits; and as to equal protection since after the 150 day period benefits for any Claimant cannot be stopped before a hearing is held before the SC Workers' Compensation Commission and a ruling is made that the Defendants are allowed to stop benefits under the Act, that the 150 day provision allowing benefits to be stopped without a hearing violates the equal protection clauses of both our United States and State Constitutions (R., pp. 59-93). The Complaint also requested a Temporary Restraining Order Without Notice ordering the Respondent American Fire to reinstate benefits pending a determination of the Declaratory Judgement Action. The Appellant also filed a Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order. (R., pp. 94-96). After review of the verified Complaint and Affidavit of Counsel, the Circuit Court issued its Order granting a Temporary Restraining Order Without Hearing (R., pp. 10-12). American Fire, filed Motions under Rule 12 and Rule 65 seeking to dissolve the Restraining Order issued without notice (R., pp. 97-102). The Plaintiff filed Affidavits of Service with the Court pursuant to Court Rule confirming: service on American Fire through its Counsel and by filing with the SC Department of Insurance pursuant to State statute; and filing an Affidavit of Service on the South Carolina Attorney General's office via Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested with Return Receipt being filed with the Court from the South Carolina Attorney General's office on 10/01/13.

(R., pp. 103-107). After Hearing on October 10, 2013, the Court issued an Order lifting the Temporary Restraining Order on the basis that the Temporary Restraining Order requested required the Court to take an affirmative action of "reinstatement" of benefits rather than "restraining" any behavior. The Court also found that the Court had exclusive jurisdiction over the Declaratory Judgement action as to whether or not the challenged subsections of that statute were facially unconstitutional. (R., pp. 13-16). The Plaintiff filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCF, Motion to the Order. (R., pp. 108-123).

American Fire, filed a Rule 12(b)(7) Motion, a Motion for Summary Judgment, a Motion for Fees, Costs and Other Relief the Court Deemed Appropriate and that same day also filed a Motion under Rule 59 as to the Order of the Court dated October 9, 2013 (R., pp. 124-126; 127-129; 130-134; 145-147). In addition, American Fire filed an Answer and Counter-Claim alleging as a counter-claim an entitlement to attorney's fees and costs and other damages under the Frivolous Proceedings Act (R., pp. 135-144). The Plaintiff filed a Motion to Dismiss the Counter-Claim under 12(b)(6), SCRCF, on October 31, 2013 and filed Replies to the Motions for Summary Judgment, the Motion for Fees, Costs and Other Relief and to the Motion to Dismiss for failure to add an indispensable party pursuant to Rule 12(b)(7); and a Reply to American Fire's Motion to Alter or Amend. (R., pp. 146-153; 154-

155; 156-159; 160-164; 165-168). On November 6, 2013, Judge Lee, denied both the Plaintiff's and the Defendant American Fire's Rule 59 Motions. (R., pp. 17-20).

All of the other Motions came before the Honorable Thomas H. Cooper for hearing on January 15, 2014. (R., pp. 455-487). In reference to the 12(b)(7) Motion, which is addressed to the addition of an indispensable party, as set out in the Motion American Fire did not seek to add an indispensable party but sought to dismiss the Plaintiff's Complaint on the basis that the Plaintiff had failed to add an indispensable party. As is set out in the Reply to the 12(b)(7) Motion, the Plaintiff in part responded that American Fire in their Motion failed to list who the indispensable party was that was not made a party to the action. At the hearing in response to a question by the Court as to who the indispensable party was, Counsel for American Fire responded that it was either the SC Workers' Compensation Commission or the State of South Carolina. Subsequent to the January 15, 2014 hearing, Judge Cooper issued a Form 4 Order denying the Defendants' Motion for Fees, Costs and Other Relief and granting the Plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss the counter-claim filed by American Fire and took the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(7) and the Motion for Summary Judgement under advisement. (R., p. 21).

Subsequently on January 21, 2014, the SC Workers'

Compensation Commission filed a Motion for Leave to file an amicus curiae Brief on the indispensable party issue and recited American Fire's unusual position at the hearing as to who the indispensable party was and that the SC Workers' Compensation Commission, "should be considered as a possible party to be added as a Defendant." The Commission Brief asked the Court not consider it as an appropriate party and noted that the Defendants had mentioned the Commission as, "a potential party" to the action for the first time at the hearing (R., pp. 188-198). Subsequent to that filing, American Fire, filed a Reply to the Commission's amicus curiae Brief. (R., pp. 199-206). Judge Cooper then issued an Order denying American Fire's Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(7) noting in part that the Motion failed to allege who the, "indispensable party" was and that it was thus facially deficient. The Court further noted that the purpose of Rule 19, SCRCF, was to make sure that all parties that needed to be before the Court were and that the Rule contemplated that a party claiming non-joinder of a necessary party must set forth both, "the name of that party and the reason why that party was not originally joined." In addition, the Court denied American Fire's Motion for Summary Judgment. The Court specifically found and held that having heard the arguments of Counsel and having considered the parties' pleadings and the Memorandums of Law, that the Court determined,

"Plaintiff has raised significant issues of law and/or fact concerning Plaintiff's claim that §42-9-260 of the SC Code of Law is unconstitutional."

The Court then added a separate ruling under Rule 19 that the Court was of the opinion that the State of South Carolina and/or the State Legislature should be named as a necessary party; that the Plaintiff had to amend his Complaint to add the State of South Carolina or the State Legislature as a party to the action; and had to serve the South Carolina Attorney General's office with the Amended Complaint within 30 days of the date of the Order. (R., pp. 22-25).

American Fire, filed a Rule 59 Motion to Judge Cooper's Order to which a Reply was made and after which, an Order was issued by Judge Cooper denying that Motion.

The Plaintiff on February 18, 2014, filed and served a Summons and Amended Complaint adding the State of South Carolina as a party to the action pursuant to the Order of Judge Cooper and served the Amended Complaint on both American Fire and the South Carolina Attorney General's office. (R., pp. 207-239). American Fire filed an Answer and Counter-Claim to the Amended Complaint listing the same identical counter-claim that had been previously listed as to the first Complaint filed. (R., pp. 240-252). The Plaintiff again filed a Motion to Dismiss the Counter-Claim filed by American Fire.

After Plaintiff's Counsel granted the Attorney General's

office an extension to, "Answer", the Attorney General's office on behalf of the State of South Carolina (hereinafter "State") filed its Answer in Reply to the Amended Summons and Complaint on April 21, 2014. (R., pp. 253-260).

In addition, on that same date, the State filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings under Rule 12(c), SCRCP, and, for the first time, as part of the basis for that Motion under Paragraph 3, the State alleged that the Plaintiff was barred from challenging the constitutionality of §42-9-260(B)(1-6) under the doctrine of constitutional estoppel. The State also filed a Memorandum in Support of its Motion. (R., p. 263; pp. 265-281)

Subsequent to the filing of the Answer of the State, the Plaintiff filed a Motion to Dismiss the State as a party Defendant. (R., pp. 282-289).

American Fire filed a Memorandum in Support of its Answer, Counter-Claim and Motion to which the Plaintiff filed a Responsive Memorandum (R., pp. 290-303; 304-312).

The Plaintiff then filed a Reply to the Memorandum of the State as to the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and filed a Memorandum in Support of the Amended Complaint, to which the State filed a Sur-Reply Memorandum (R., pp. 313-332; 333-351; 352-362).

A hearing was held on the Declaratory Judgment action and all remaining Motions on September 9, 2014 at the conclusion of which Judge Benjamin asked for proposed Orders from all parties within

30 days of the date of the Hearing and filed a Form 4 Order noting that the matter was taken under advisement (R., p. 601, ll. 8-22).

Pursuant to the direction of the Court, a Proposed Order was submitted by American Fire (R., pp. 386-391). The State filed Proposed Orders and in its Proposed Order granting the State's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, the State set forth that the Court was assuming without deciding that the Plaintiff had standing to bring the action and that he was not constitutionally estopped from bringing the action both of which had been set forth as bases for the granting of a Motion on the Pleadings. That Proposed Order does not further address the issue of constitutional estoppel (R., pp. 392-404; 405-413).

The Plaintiff submitted one Proposed Order to the Court addressing all issues as to all pending motions, some of which were ruled on at the Hearing, the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, and for a decision on the Declaratory Judgment action declaring §42-9-260(B)(1-6) unconstitutional, all of which were argued at the Hearing (R., pp. 414-440).

Following the Hearing held on September 9, 2014, on December 22, 2015, the Court issued an Email and Order Instructions granting the State's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings as filed by the Attorney General's office (R., p. 631). On December 23, 2015, Counsel for the Plaintiff expressed concerns to the Court in reference to the length of time and as to certain references and

requested a hearing on those issues prior to the issuance of any formal Order. (R., pp. 635-636). Thereafter, a Proposed Order was not submitted by the Attorney General's office but was submitted by Counsel for American Fire.

After additional concerns were raised by the Plaintiff as to American Fire preparing the Proposed Order instead of the Attorney General's office, who had raised the issue on behalf of the State, and after being advised by the Attorney General's office that the Order, "was a joint effort between Mr. Bayne and the Attorneys for the State", the Court set a hearing for the Plaintiff to express his concerns as to the Proposed Order prior to its issuance. (R., p. 637; 638). A Hearing was held with the stated purpose only being to go over the concerns of the Plaintiff in reference to the Order Instruction Notes, including the length of time between the hearing and the Decision and in reference to the issue upon which the Court decided the case which had been raised by the State in its Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings whereas the Proposed Order had been prepared and submitted by American Fire (R., pp. 601-629).

Thereafter, the Order of the Court was issued granting the State's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings on the basis of constitutional estoppel. (See: R., pp. 49-56). A Rule 59 Motion was filed on February 26, 2016 on which no hearing was granted. However, the Court noted in its Form 4 Order denying the Motion

that the Court considered the "January 25, 2016 hearing" to have been to consider the issues raised in the Rule 59 Motion. (R., p. 57). From the decision of the Court, this Appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant, the injured worker and Claimant before the Workers' Compensation Commission, sustained an electrocution injury on or about May 22, 2013. Following the report of the accident, it is uncontested that American Fire, the insurance carrier for the employer in the workers' compensation matter, accepted and began paying temporary total disability benefits and authorized and provided medical care for the accepted injury pursuant to the provisions of SC Code §42-17-10 (provision of benefits by agreement), §42-9-10 and §42-1-120 (temporary weekly compensation) and §42-15-60 (medical care). After providing weekly compensation and medical care for approximately 115 days, the Defendants by letter containing a WCC Form 15 (II) notified the Claimant that they were immediately stopping payment of benefits without a hearing pursuant to the provisions of §42-9-260(B)(1-6) and specifically on the alleged basis of having conducted a "good faith" investigation. See subsection (B)(3).

After the electrocution injury on May 22, 2013, the Plaintiff obtained Counsel and Counsel contacted the adjuster as managing agent for the Employer's workers' compensation insurance carrier, American Fire, about benefits who after

review of the file, authorized and started temporary compensation benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act. (R., pp. 84-88) Thereafter the Plaintiff began receiving weekly compensation benefits in the amount of \$426.69 and continued to receive medical care which had been previously authorized, paid for and provided through Dr. Lide and Dr. Travis and a rehab nurse was assigned for local handling of the claim.

On September 13, 2013, Counsel for the Plaintiff was notified by the Plaintiff that his assigned rehab nurse, Ms. Kristy L. Thompson, RN, BA, BSN had been advised to close her file as the case was being denied. On September 16, 2013, by letter dated September 12th, Counsel for the Plaintiff, received a letter and a SCWCC Form 15 stating that the Defendant had stopped temporary compensation benefits and medical care and had denied the claim based on the grounds of, "a good-faith investigation." (R., pp. 80-92.

According to the Complaint Affidavit, Plaintiff was at home recuperating and was totally disabled from gainful employment. His medical situation was extremely tenuous, wherein any slight fluctuation in his physical and/or mental condition (stress) could result in irreparable harm up to and including the death of Plaintiff. (R., pp. 80-92).

According to the Affidavit, the Defendant had stopped compensation to the Plaintiff and that due to his disabled

condition he had no alternative economic means of paying his bills and supporting himself other than his temporary compensation. According to the communication from the rehab nurse, she had closed her file at the direction of the adjuster, robbing the Claimant of all support and assistance in securing medical care and benefits. Also, while to the knowledge of Counsel, his doctors continued to treat the Plaintiff, they were doing so without guarantee of payment on the basis of the denial of the Defendant and some necessary medical was being delayed. Therefore, based upon the possible irreparable harm that may have come from the stoppage of benefits without a hearing, pursuant to SC Code §42-9-260, the Declaratory Judgment Action and Relief requested was filed.

It is an undisputed fact that the Respondent American Fire filed an Answer and Counter-claim and filed numerous Motions. The State of South Carolina through the Attorney General's Office filed no response and took no action in the proceeding nor filed any communication or response on behalf of the State of South Carolina.

It is an undisputed fact that without any Motion to add the State as a party the Court ordered that the State of South Carolina through the Attorney General's Office be added as a party and subsequently the Amended Complaint was duly and properly served on both the Respondent American Fire and

Respondent State of South Carolina through the Attorney General's office. Affidavits of Service were properly filed and the Respondent American Fire filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint.

It is undisputed that after an extension of time to, "answer" was granted by the Appellant to the Attorney General's Office representing the State, the Attorney General's Office filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint but also filed a Rule 12(c) Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. In that Motion and as part of the Motion, the Respondent State of South Carolina raised for the first time the issue of constitutional estoppel. It is an undisputed fact that prior to the filing of this Motion that the issue of constitutional estoppel had not been raised by the Respondent American Fire.

After responsive Memorandums as to all Motions and to the Complaint and the Answer and Counterclaim were filed including Memorandum in Support of the various Motions, Complaint, Answer and Counterclaim, a hearing was held on September 9, 2014 on all remaining Motions and the Declaratory Judgment action.

At the hearing, all issues were argued including the issue of constitutional estoppel with that issue being argued by the Appellant and the Attorney representing the State. Also during that Hearing, Counsel for the State conferred with an individual beyond the rail who was subsequently identified as Counsel for

the SC Workers' Compensation Commission. Objection was made to that consultation. (R., p. 546, l. 11 - p. 548, l. 10). At the Hearing, the Court ruled on certain Motions and then took the remaining Motion including the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and the Declaratory Judgment action under advisement and requested proposed Orders from all parties - American Fire, the State, and Plaintiff. Proposed Orders were appropriately and timely filed with the Court. Among the proposed Orders was a proposed Order filed by the State granting the State's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings.

Subsequent to the Hearing and after the proposed Orders were submitted, fifteen (15) months later, the Court issued Notes for the Decision granting the State's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings on the basis of constitutional estoppel and requesting that the Order be submitted by the, "Defendants".

It is undisputed the proposed Order originally submitted by the State was not based on constitutional estoppel. It is undisputed that after the Notes were issued by Judge Benjamin, a proposed Order was submitted by Counsel for the Respondent American Fire who had not raised the issue of constitutional estoppel and that the Attorneys representing the Respondent State advised the Court that,

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