THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas
DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge
Trial Court Case No. 2013-CP-40-05888

RECEIVED

JUL 11 2017

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000788

SC Court of Appeals

Clarence B. Winfrey, Jr.,Appellant,

V.

American Fire & Casualty Insurance Company
c/o Liberty Mutual Group.....Respondent,

and

State of South Carolina.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Respectfully Submitted,

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. EMORY SMITH, JR.
DEPUTY SOLICITOR GENERAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

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

ARGUMENT

I.

APPELLANT DID NOT HAVE STANDING TO BRING THIS ACTION SINCE NO RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED TO APPELLANT IN THIS PROCEEDING.

A. No Relief May be Granted to Appellant

To have standing, there must be a justiciable injury. *In re Treatment & Care of Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. 122, 146, 568 S.E.2d 338, 350 (2002). It must be likely, and not merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision. *Sea Pines Ass 'n for Protection of Wildlife, Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Natural Resources*, 345 S.C. 594, 550 S.E.2d 289 (2001).

No ruling by this Court on the constitutionality of § 42-9-260 will have any impact on the resolution of Appellant's workers' compensation claim. Any concerns about future terminations of Appellant's benefits without a hearing are purely speculative, have not happened, and are not ripe for adjudication. Appellant is receiving his benefits. No issue with regard to Appellant's benefits is before this Court in this appeal. Therefore, any opinion with regard to matters related to Appellant's benefits would be an advisory opinion. See, *Power v. McNair*, 255 S.C. 150, 154, 177 S.E.2d 551, 553 (1970) ("It is uniformly held that the Declaratory Judgments Act does not require the court to give a purely advisory opinion as to the issues sought to be raised.").

B. The Constitutionality Issue Need Not Be Reached

This Court does not need to reach and should not reach the constitutionality issue. This Court is not in a position to grant any relief to Appellant. Nothing pertaining to the merits of his compensation claim is justiciable before this Court in this matter. Therefore, this Court should not reach the constitutional issue. The Supreme Court has stated that "It is this Court's firm

policy to decline to rule on constitutional issues unless such a ruling is required.” *Riverwoods, LLC v. Cty. of Charleston*, 349 S.C. 378, 387, 563 S.E.2d 651, 656 (2002). See *In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 551 S.E.2d 235 (2001) (“Further, it is this Court’s firm policy to decline to rule on constitutional issues unless such a ruling is required.”); *Fairway Ford, Inc. v. County of Greenville*, 324 S.C. 84, 476 S.E.2d 490 (1996) (“In keeping with our firm policy of declining to reach constitutional issues unnecessary to the resolution of the case before us, we do not address the circuit court’s alternative ruling that the ordinance fee violated equal protection.”). No relief can be granted to Appellant so there is no need to reach the issue.

C. The Merits as to Appellant’s Compensation Case are Pending Before this Court on Direct Appeal from the Commission.

The merits of the workers’ compensation claims are before the Court of Appeals on direct appeal. Furthermore, the temporary benefits have been restored by Commission order and Appellant is receiving temporary benefits. The only temporary benefits that Appellant has not received are those from September 14, 2013, through February 27, 2014, and his entitlement to those benefits is before the Court of Appeals in the direct appeals from the Commission. The Commission has the sole authority to order reinstatement of benefits. The Court of Common Pleas does not have authority to award Appellant benefits and this issue is not before you. The issues of Appellant’s continuing entitlement to receive these benefits and his entitlement to receive the back benefits for the period of time the benefits were suspended are before the Court of Appeals pursuant to the direct appeals. A ruling from this Court on the constitutionality of § 42-9-260, whether constitutional or unconstitutional, will play no role in the resolution of Appellant’s entitlement to receive benefits. Appellant will continue to receive those benefits

regardless of this Court's ruling on the constitutionality. Furthermore, this action is directed towards Appellant only and does not purport to assert the rights of others similarly situated.

D. The Workers' Compensation Claim Has been Fully Litigated

The Workers' Compensation claim has been fully litigated before the Commission and is under appeal to the Court of Appeals. There is no justiciable matter before this Court.

Judge Lee in a previous order (the "Lee Order") (R. p. 15) dated October 9, 2013, ruled that:

The Commission has the sole authority to reinstate benefits if appropriate. Because Plaintiff [Appellant] already has a mechanism for a remedy with the workers' Compensation Commission, who has exclusive original subject matter jurisdiction over relief to work-related injuries, this Court must defer to their authority on the issue of reinstating the benefits.

Note that Judge Lee declined to dismiss the facial challenge to the constitutionality.

However, she did not address the standing issue.

D. The constitutionality of 42-9-260 is not subject to collateral attach in this case.

The issue of the constitutionality of § 42-9-260 has not been raised before the Court of Appeals in the direct appeals and is therefore not preserved for review in this case. Appellant does not have standing to raise it as a collateral matter in this action.

II.

IF APPELLANT HAD STANDING, THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR BY APPLYING THE DOCTRINE OF CONSTITUTIONAL ESTOPEL AND GRANTING THE STATE'S RULE 12(C), SCRPC, MOTION DISMISSING THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION CHALLENGING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF §42-9-260(B) (1-6) THAT ALLOWS CARRIERS TO TERMINATE CERTAIN PAYMENTS WITHOUT A HEARING.

The doctrine of constitutional estoppel prevents Appellant from challenging the constitutionality of § 42-9-260. Appellant is challenging the very statute under which his

temporary benefits were paid. Appellant disputes that this statute is the source of his benefits.

However, the language is clear:

(A) When an employee has been out of work due to a reported work-related injury or occupational disease for eight days, an employer may start temporary disability payments immediately and may continue these payments for up to one hundred fifty days from the date the injury or disease is reported without waiver of any grounds for good faith denial. Upon making the first payment, the employer immediately shall notify the commission, in accordance with a form prescribed by the commission, that payment of compensation has begun.

§ 42-9-260.

After his temporary benefits were terminated, Appellant exercised his right to request a hearing pursuant to § 42-9-260(C). He may not take the benefits of the statute and simultaneously attack its constitutionality. “A party invoking the provisions of a statute is not in a position to raise the question as to its constitutionality.” *Ross v. Lipscomb*, 83 S.C. 136, 65 S.E. 451 (1909).

Appellant, having sought and received benefits pursuant to Section 42-9-260, is estopped from now challenging its constitutionality. The United States Supreme Court and South Carolina Courts have recognized the doctrine of constitutional estoppel, and have refused to allow litigants to challenge statutes under which they have voluntarily received benefits. “The Supreme Court has refused to allow litigants to challenge statutes under which they have voluntarily received benefits.” *Strickland v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Co-op. Stabilization Corp.*, 643 F. Supp. 310, 319 (D.S.C. 1986) citing *United States v. City & County of San Francisco*, 310 U.S. 16, 60 S.Ct. 749, 84 L.Ed. 1050 (1940) and *Ashwander v. Tennessee Valley Authority*, 297 U.S. 288, 56 S.Ct. 466, 80 L.Ed. 688 (1936). “In *Fahey v. Mallonee*, 332 U.S. 245, 67 S.Ct. 1552, 91 L.Ed. 2030 (1947), the Supreme Court held that “[i]t is an elementary rule of constitutional law that one may not ‘retain the benefits of the Act while attacking the constitutionality of one of its

important conditions.’ And that ‘[t]he Court will not pass upon the constitutionality of a statute at the instance of one who has availed himself of its benefits.’ ” *Id.* at 255, 67 S.Ct. at 1556 (citations omitted). *Strickland* at 319. See also, *Ross v. Lipscomb*, 83 S.C. 136, 65 S.E. 451, 456 (1909) (“[a] party invoking the provisions of a statute is not in a position to raise the question of its constitutionality.”) and *Federal Deposit Ins. Corp. v. American Bank Trust Shares, Inc.*, 460 F. Supp. 549, 556 (D.S.C. 1979), (“one who utilizes an Act to gain advantages... is estopped from questioning the validity of its vital conditions.”)

Appellant argues that “the Court will find that where the section that is being challenged is not a section under which the party is receiving benefits and where that section is severable, the Courts have generally not applied constitutional estoppel.” Brief at 20. However, the law as stated by Appellant is “It is true that one cannot in the same proceeding both assail a statute and rely upon it.” citing *Hurley v. Commissioner of Fisheries*, 257 U.S. 223, 225. Brief at 18. Appellant makes the argument throughout that he is not relying on § 42-9-260. However, Carrier clearly relied on this statute to pay the temporary total benefits so the Carrier could start paying benefits shortly after the accident without being prejudiced in its compensation defense.

III.

EVEN IF THE CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE WERE BEFORE THE COURT, THE STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL

There is no standing, no relief can be granted by this Court to Appellant, and there is no justiciable issue that can provide relief to Appellant so this Court should not proceed to the issue of constitutionality. However, should this Court desire to inquire into the constitutionality of § 42-9-260, there is no doubt as to its constitutionality.

1. § 42-9-260 does not violate Due Process under the Constitutions of the State or of the United States.

The initial inquiry in a due process analysis is whether the Appellant has been deprived of a protected property or liberty interest. In order to have a property interest in a benefit, one must have "more than a unilateral expectation of it;" one must have "a legitimate claim of entitlement to it." *Hamilton v. Board of Trustees of Oconee County School Dist.*, 282 S.C. 519, 525, 319 S.E.2d 717, 721 (1984).

Payment under § 42-9-260 is voluntary by the carrier/company during the first 150 days from the injury. Furthermore, as happened in this matter, a post deprivation [termination of benefits] hearing is required within sixty days if the carrier suspends or terminates payments. § 42-9-260(C). "[A] claim to a predeprivation hearing as a matter of constitutional right rests on the proposition that full relief cannot be obtained at a postdeprivation hearing." *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 331, 96 S.Ct. 893, 900 (1976).

Furthermore, for there to be a due process violation, Appellant must have had a property interest in the temporary payments. There was no such property interest in this case.

§ 42-9-260(A) provides:

(A) When an employee has been out of work due to a reported work-related injury or occupational disease for eight days, an **employer may start** temporary disability payments immediately and may continue these payments for up to one hundred fifty days from the date the injury or disease is reported without waiver of any grounds for good faith denial. Upon making the first payment, the employer immediately shall notify the commission, in accordance with a form prescribed by the commission, that payment of compensation has begun.

Id., (emphasis added).

Carrier took advantage of the “may” language and voluntarily started paying the temporary benefits. Then Carrier, after the performance of a good faith investigation¹ pursuant to § 42-9-260(B) (3), stopped paying the temporary benefits. Appellant did not have any right to the temporary benefits in the first 150 days absent a ruling by the Commission after Carrier terminated the benefits. Appellant was vested with a property interest in the temporary payments after the Commission ordered the benefits reinstated but not before. Regardless, Plaintiff was protected under the South Carolina Worker’s Compensation process by exercising his rights to a post termination hearing pursuant to § 42-9-260(C) which he did request and the benefits were restored.

2. § 42-9-260 does not violate Equal Protection under the Constitutions of the State or of the United States.

Where, as here, the classification does not implicate a suspect class or abridge a fundamental right, the rational basis test applies. *City of Beaufort v. Holcombe*, 369 S.C. 643, 647-48, 632 S.E.2d 894, 897 (Ct. App. 2006). In *State v. Thompson*, 349 S.C. 346, 353, 563 S.E.2d 325, 329 (2002), the court found that the right to protect property [real property in *Thompson*] is not a fundamental right deserving strict scrutiny. Equal protection is satisfied if: (1) the classification bears a reasonable relation to the legislative purpose; (2) the members of the class are treated alike under similar circumstances; and (3) the classification rests on some reasonable basis. *Skyscraper Corp. v. Cnty. of Newberry*, 323 S.C. 412, 417, 475 S.E.2d 764, 766 (1996). "The fact that the classification may result in some inequity does not render it unconstitutional." *Davis v. County of Greenville*, 313 S.C. 459, 465, 443 S.E.2d 383, 386 (1994).

¹ Commissioner Beck’s by Order filed December 5, 2013, found that Carrier properly terminated the benefits as the result of a good faith investigation. (R.p.184-185).

Workers' compensation laws were intended by the Legislature to relieve workers of the uncertainties of a trial for damages by providing sure, swift recovery for workplace injuries regardless of fault. *Peay v. US Silica Co.*, 313 S.C. 91, 94, 437 S.E.2d 64, 65 (1993), citing *Cokeley v. Robert Lee, Inc.*, 197 S.C. 157, 14 S.E.2d 889 (1941). "It is the established law of this State that any reasonable doubt as to the construction of a Workmen's Compensation Law must be resolved in favor of the claimants, its provisions reconciled if possible, its purposes effectuated and its presumptions and penalties directed toward the end of providing coverage rather than non-coverage." *Cokeley*, 14 S.E.2d at 894.

South Carolina courts may analyze legislative intent without legislative history. In *Cokeley*, without citation to an outside source of legislative history, the Court stated "we do not feel that it was the intention of the Legislature to make the decision as alleged by the appellants." *Id.* at 894. In *Thompson, supra* (trapping beaver out of season), the court found, without citing any legislative history, that two statutes survived scrutiny and stated "Clearly, the purpose of these laws is to protect wildlife." *Id.*, 349 S.C. at 355, 563 S.E.2d at 330. As part of its justification as to intent, the *Thompson* court cited *Rice Hope Plantation v. South Carolina Pub. Serv. Auth.*, 216 S.C. 500, 59 SE 2d 132 (1950) (overruled on other grounds *McCall v. Batson* 329 SE 2d 741, 285 SC 243 (1985)) for the proposition that preservation of game and fish is a matter of public interest. "What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." *Ferguson Fire and Fabrication, Inc. v. Preferred Fire Protection, L.L.C.*, 409 S.C. 331, 344, 762 SE 2d 561, 567 (2014). In the instant case, *Peay* and *Cokeley* provide a basis for determining the legislative intent for the Workers' Compensation laws.

Section 42-9-260 treats all employees whose benefits are terminated within 150 days the same: they all have the opportunity to request a post-termination hearing to seek the reinstatement of benefits, which hearing must be held in 60 days. Section 42-9-260 treats all employees who receive temporary disability benefits for more than 150 days the same: the benefits may not be terminated without an evidentiary hearing and Commission approval. The Act through § 42-9-260(B) provides a limited period of time (150 days) in which the employer can make provisional payment of benefits without being estopped from denying liability if the investigation turns up grounds for denial. This allows the employee to begin immediately receiving benefits, while at the same time allowing the employer an adequate, limited time period (150 days) in which he can conduct a thorough investigation to enable him to make an informed decision on whether or not to terminate payment of benefits.

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